FILED

NOV 03 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

SC#93798.2

Court of Appeals No. 33537-2-III

RECEIVED

COT 19 23

STAMPER RUBENS, PS

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED

OCT 20 7016

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION OF
STATE OF VATHINGIAN
BY

WILL T. PAYNE,

Petitioner/Appellant/Plaintiff,

VS.

JOHN STACY RUEGSEGGER and SHARIE KAY RUEGSEGGER,

Respondents/Defendants.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF PETITIONER WILL T. PAYNE

Michael J. Beyer, #9109 Attorney for Appellant

5010 W. Prosperity Lane Spokane, Washington 99208 (509) 499-1877

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
F.	CONCLUSION15
	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
	Table of Cases

Hubbell v. Ward, 40 Wn.2d 779, 246 P.2d 468 (1952) 9, 11, 12

Kirby v. City of Tacoma, 124 Wn. App. 454, 98 P.3d 827 (2004).

<u>Kruse v. Hemp</u> , 121 Wn2d 715, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993)					
					<u>Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc.</u> , 54 Wn.2d 570, 343 P.2d 183 (1959)
Statutes RCW 2.06.040					
RCW 2.06.040					
Court Rules					
RAP 13.4(b)					
RAP 13.4(b) (1)					
RAP 13.4(b) (2)					
RAP 13.4(b) (3)					
RAP 13.4(b) (4)					

A. Identity of Petitioner

WILL T. PAYNE, petitioner asks this court to accept review of the court of appeal decisions terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. Court of Appeal Decisions

Petitioner, WILL T. PAYNE, seeks review of the "Unpublished Opinion" of the Court of Appeals, Division III which was entered by said court on June 14, 2016, and the court's subsequent "Order," entered on September 20, 2016, wherein Mr. PAYNE's motion for reconsider or to publish was denied. A copy of the "Unpublished Opinion" is in "Appendix at pages A - 1 through A - 21". A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration or to publish is in "Appendix A 22 - 23."

C. Issues Presented for Review

1. Whether the majority was in error in misapplying and choosing to ignore the tenets of this court's decision in <u>Hedges v. Hurd</u>, 47 Wn.2d 683, 289 P.2d 706 (1955), whereupon the Court of Appeals, Division III, upheld the ruling of the superior court on the cross motions for summary judgment on the erroneous basis that there is no enforceable real estate contract established

in this case?

- 2. Whether the majority committed further error when determining the appellant and petitioner herein, WILL T. PAYNE, was not entitled any form of equitable relief as against the respondents, JOHN "STACY" and SHARIE KAY RUEGSEGGER, insofar as he had filed no formal pleading or amended pleading with regard to such remedies?
- 3. Finally, whether in light of the majority's error, that decision of the court of appeals, as well as that the underlying superior court ruling on summary judgment, should now be reversed and the case remanded with instructions to the Superior Court of Spokane County, State of Washington, that there be a new determination as to whether Mr. PAYNE is entitled to judgment and monetary relief against the RUEGSEGGERs (a) in terms of said respondents' breach of the subject real estate contract, or (b) on the alternative basis of one or more of the equitable remedies specifically raised by him on summary judgment?

D. Statement of the Case

This matter concerns the central, ongoing issue whether the plaintiff, appellant and petitioner herein, WILL T. PAYNE, is entitled to some form of remedy or monetary recovery regarding his sale of certain real estate located in the State of Alaska which he sold to, and was purchased by the defendants and respondents herein, JOHN ''STACY'' and ''SHARIE KAY RUEGSEGGER, husband and wife, but upon which said purchasers ultimately chose, due to their unrelated financial woes, to renege upon said bargained for agreement while, in turn, refusing to return possession and title to said real property, and quid pro quo, to Mr. PAYNE, and for which the superior court in cause no. 14-2-01944-5, and later the majority on appeal in appeal no. 33537-III-2, declined to intercede and provide Mr. PAYNE with any legal or equitable remedy whatsoever.

1. Factual Background. On February 5, 2008, at the office of defendant, and respondent herein, JOHN "STACY" RUEGSEGGER, the parties executed a document entitled "addendum" to a real estate purchase agreement for the purchase of real property, situated in an area known as Whale Passage, Petersburg District, Alaska, and legally described as "Lot 9-B, B Portion of lot 9, Block 13, ASLS 2000-26 as shown on Plat no. 2000-20 Petersburg Recording District, Alaska," for the sum of \$60,000.00 with a down payment of \$12,000.00, and the remainder payable in certified funds for 15 years at a rate of 9% [nine per cent] interest. [CP 8, 187, 188, 189].

Subsequently, however, all periodic payments which were made by respondents were in cash with the exception of the initial down payment. [CP 188]. Finally, it should be noted that the parties' bargained-for agreement specifically provided that the property was being sold 'as is' including power at the property line as shown. [CP 188, 191].

During the formation of this contract, Mr.

RUEGSEGGER read from the corresponding plat document and dictated the details of the sale. [CP 188, 191]. In effect, he was the drafter of the agreement. [Id.]. At no time since the execution of this sale on February 5, 2008, did either one of the respondents notify Mr. PAYNE, either in writing or orally, that they were unhappy, displeased or disappointed with the purchase of the subject real estate. [CP 188]. In April 2008, Mr. and Mrs. RUEGSEGGER accompanied Mr. PAYNE to the property and took pictures of it. [CP 188, 192-93]. During this visit and view of the land, respondents seemed entirely pleased with the property and, in fact, continued making periodic payment of \$500.00 towards the balance owed. [CP 188, 189].

Later on, however, the RUEGSEGGERs got behind in their payments towards the property. [CP 188]. Ultimately, Mr. PAYNE was informed by Mr. RUEGSEGGER that the latter's

business was experiencing financial difficulty. In addition, money was needed to assist respondents' son in legal expenses associated with a custody battle between the son and his former wife. [CP 188].

Consequently, Mr. RUEGSEGGER advised Mr. PAYNE that he would have to sell the property. [CP 188]. A "for sale" sign was later posted on the property by respondents containing Mr. RUEGSEGGER name and business phone number. [CP 188].

During this time and thereafter, respondents continued to exercise total dominion and exclusive control over the subject property. As some point, Mr. RUEGSEGGER went on to represent to petitioner that he and his sons were now considering building a cabin on the property insofar as there was already power to the property and access to water. [CP 188, 189, 190].

On May 11, 2009, Mr. PAYNE executed in good faith a statutory warranty deed transferring title to the property to the RUEGSEGGERs, as the parties had contemplated [CP 189, 194]. Nevertheless, the respondents continued to fall behind in their agreed payments. [CP 189]. Mr. PAYNE was then compelled to notify respondents numerous times concerning their delinquency. [CP 189].

Eventually, the RUEGSEGGERs chose to repudiate their longstanding contract with Mr. PAYNE. [CP 189]. Consequently, after having exercised the utmost patience under the foregoing circumstances, Mr. PAYNE was left with no other option or choice but to file suit against the buyers, Mr. and Mrs. RUEGSEGGER, in order to recovery the outstanding balance owned by them on the land. [CP 1-8, 189].

2. <u>Procedural History</u>. On May 29, 2014, Mr. PAYNE filed the present action against the RUEGSEGGERs. [CP 1-8]. In response, they answered by denying the existence of any 'enforceable' contract and, further, counterclaimed by seeking the return of all payments made toward the purchase of said property. [CP 13-15].

Inter alia, the defendants RUEGSEGGER argued they were entitled to the foregoing relief on the basis of deception, fraud and misrepresentation involving the nature and character of the land. [Id.]. In like terms, the RUEGSEGGERs alleged the value of the real estate has been 'inflated' by the plaintiff in contrast to its actual fair market value of only forty-eight thousand dollars [\$48,000.00]. [Id.].

In Mr. PAYNE's view these claims were nothing short of being totally disingenuous and themselves fraudulent in nature.

On January 16, 2015, the defendants RUEGSEGGER filed a motion for summary judgment claiming that they had been "duped" into purchasing the Alaska property on the basis of it being a viable short-term investment. [CP 16-17, 26-53, 54-64, 123-27]. They also alleged that the sale failed to satisfy all legal requirements so as to constitute a valid and enforceable real estate contract. [Id.]. Likewise, it was argued by the defendants that Mr. PAYNE was barred from filing suit insofar as there was no "acceleration clause" in the parties agreement, and the balance owing on the land was not due for a period of fifteen [15] years under terms of their contract with Mr. PAYNE. [Id].

Mr. PAYNE responded by filing a cross-motion for summary judgment [CP 206-07], along with a supporting affidavit and accompanying exhibits [CP 187-96], and a supporting memorandum in opposition to defendants' motion. [CP 197-205]. The gravamen of Mr. PAYNE's response to the defendants' various complaints and allegations as to why they should not be held financially accountable were that these contrived excuses amounted to nothing short of being totally disingenuous and were themselves fabricated and truly fraudulent in nature. [Id.]. In turn, Mr. PAYNE maintained the

parties had an enforceable real estate contract [CP 199-200], and said agreement was supported by adequate consideration, was not illusory in nature [CP 200-02] as self servingly misrepresented by the defendants RUEGSEGGERs. [CP 202-03].

As a result, it was Mr. PAYNE's position that he was entitled to file suit regardless of the so-called infirmity of the absence of an acceleration clause. [CP 203]. At a minimum, he argued that, under the particular facts and circumstance presented in this case, he should be afforded a remedy in equity should the superior court determine there was no legally binding contract as between these litigants. [CP 204-05].

On March 11, 2015, the matter was heard by the superior court. [RP 1, et seq.]. Following oral argument, the court opined there was no 'appropriate real estate contract' in this case, nor was there any acceleration clause requiring the defendants to make payments until the 2023 deadline." [RP 2-4].

As a result, the court granted defendants' motion to dismiss Mr. PAYNE's lawsuit. [RP 4]. In turn, the latter's cross-motion was denied by the court, in part, on the stated ground the plaintiff had no right of recovery either legally or 'on any equitable basis.' [RP 5]. An order to this effect was entered

by the court on April 3, 2015. [CP 210].

On April 13, 2015, Mr. PAYNE filed a motion for reconsideration under Rule 59 of the Washington Civil Rules for Superior Court [CR]. [CP 211-15, 221-24]. The motion was opposed by defendants. [CP 216-20].

On May 15, 2015, the superior court denied plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. [CP 228-29]. On the date prior, the court had granted defendants' request to dismiss their counterclaim without prejudice. Mr. PAYNE then filed a timely appeal with Division III of the Court of Appeals. [CP 230-36].

In a split decision, the majority of the appellate court held that the decisions in Hubbell v, Ward, 40 Wn2d 779, 780-83, 246 P.2d 468 (1952), and its progeny including Kruse v. Hemp, 121 Wn.2d 715, 720, 853 P. 2d 1373 (1993), dictated no enforceable real estate contract was proved to exist in this case. [See, Appendix A - 8 through A -12]. The majority also rejected Mr. PAYNE's claim that he was entitled to any relief in terms of any cited equitable remedy since there had been no formal pleading or amended pleading filed in connection with these stated equitable remedies raised by Mr. PAYNE. [See, Appendix A - 12 through 17]. This was notwithstanding the fact though the superior court had considered the same on summary judgment

[RP 5] and the defendants' had in terms of Mr. PAYNE cross-motion for summary judgment been given 'fair notice' of the same in his supporting memorandum on summary judgment. [CP 204-05].

Ultimately, the majority opined that the superior court had ruled properly on the opposing motions for summary judgment. In turn, the majority also found the denial of reconsideration in this case was not subject to challenge. [See, "Appendix A-17 through A-19]. In a dissenting opinion entered by Lawrence-Berry, J., it was duly noted that, when reviewing a summary judgment order, the appellate court is required under Landstar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow, 181 Wn.App. 1109, 121-22, 325 P.3d 327 (2014), to review unpled issues which were, in fact, argued and decided by the trial court. [See, "Appendix A - 20 through A - 21."

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

In light of the subject "Unpublished Opinion" entered on June 14, 2016, and the subsequent "Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration or to Publish Opinion," entered on September 20, 2016, the appellant and petitioner herein, WILL T. PAYNE, respectfully submits that each of the grounds for acceptance of review, as identified and set forth in Rule 13.4(b)(1) through

(b)(4) of the Rules of Appellate Review [RAP], are implicated in this matter and warrant acceptance of the within petition regardless of the fact the court of appeals refused to publish its "Unpublished Opinion." Justice and fundamental fairness to both Mr. PAYNE, and future litigants faced with the similar circumstances; require nothing less under both the state and federal constitutions.

To begin with, the majority, at pages 8 through 12 of the "Unpublished Opinion," erred when opining that this court's decisions in Kruse v. Hemp, 121 Wn.2d 715, 722, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993) and Hubbell v. Ward, 40 Wn.2d 779, 782-83, 246 P.2d 469 (1952) do not support Mr. PAYNE's position that the parties' agreement to sell the Alaska property embraces all of the essential elements of a binding contract for the sale of land or resulting in respondents having subsequently breached said contract. The holdings in those cases should not be applied mechanically or in a Machiavellian fashion. This is especially true since as here the buyers, RUEGSEGGERs, exercised total and control dominion over the real estate for a lengthy period of time of years until they became dissatisfied and financially unable to go through with their obligations to the seller. Significant also is the fact that Mr. PAYNE had already

transferred title. Further, all the requirements of the above cited cases did not apply such as proration of the taxes since such did not apply in this transaction because of Alaska law. The claims that the buyers were somehow ''duped'' into entering into a real estate transaction should not be given any weight in this type of situation especially where the buyers, the RUEGSEGGERs, are themselves business savvy.

Furthermore, and contrary to the majority's ''Unpublished Opinion,'' not all of the so-called eight [8] elements cited by this court in <u>Hubbell</u> and <u>Kruse</u> are required in this particular instance. The trial court and the court of appeals should have taken judicial notice of the fact there are no real estate taxes in Alaska, nor are there any water or sewer assessments in that state.

Without question, this court's decision in <u>Hedges v. Hurd</u>, 47 Wn.2d 683, 687, 289 P.2d 706 (1955) supports Mr. PAYNE's position that the parties did have a binding real estate contract under the facts presented. Thus, in light of <u>Hedges</u>, the majority should not have summarily upheld the ruling of the superior court on summary judgment.

Consequently, in light of the majority being in direct conflict with Hedges, and failing to properly interpret Hubbell

and <u>Kruse</u> according to that decision, acceptance of discretionary review is fully warrant under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Insofar as the "Unpublished Opinion," at issue, also encompasses significant issues of constitutional due process and property rights under the Washington Constitution, as well as corresponding questions of substantial public interest, those considerations identified in RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (b)(4) are also implicated by the errors of Division III of the Court of Appeals in this case.

As an aside, it should be observed that simple fact the court of appeals chose to abuse its discretion when invoking the provisions of RCW 2.06.040 does not detract from the fact the considerations set forth in RAP 13.4(b) are still implicated herein. In essence, the appellate court's having done so is simply a non-sequitur.

This is not the classic situation where, such as in Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 570, 343 P.2d 183 (1959), a point of law is already well-settled. It is only in those rare instances that where RCW 2.06.040 was intended to be applied by the state legislature. Furthermore, the discretionary decision to invoke RCW 2.06.020 should have no bearing whatsoever upon whether discretionary review should be accepted by this court of last resort.

In other words, the court of appeals should not be allowed to circumvent acceptance of discretionary review by way of an unpublished opinion. Whether to right a legal or equitable wrong by way of discretionary review should not be governed upon the irrelevant issue regardless of whether the appellate court unilaterally chose to invoke RCW 2.06.040.

Lastly, as a final basis under which review should be accepted, the majority, at pages 12 through 17 of its "Unpublished Opinion," goes on to erroneously claim Division III of the Court of Appeals is not bound by the sister-court decision in Landstar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow, 181 Wn.App. 109, 121-22, 325 P.3d 327 (2014). This case is both cited and deemed applicable by the dissent [see, Appendix A-20 through A-21] in light of the procedural facts and circumstances surrounding the parties cross-motions for summary judgment which included Mr. PAYNE's equitable claims raised therein. See also, Kirby v. City of Tacoma, 124 Wn.App. 454, 471, 98 P.3d 827 (2004). Simply put, when reviewing a trial court's summary judgment decision, the appellate court is bound to consider even "unpled issues" argued and decided by the trial court. Id.

Here, the respondents RUEGSEGGER were given 'fair notice' of the subject equitable claims of Mr. PAYNE's in terms

of the latter's cross-motion for summary judgment. [CP 204-05]. Further, those claims and issues were both argued and decided by the superior court. [RP 5]. Thus, those issues should have been addressed by all members of the panel of the court of appeals.

As he has all along, Mr. PAYNE once again maintain that, at a minimum, he should be entitled to equitable relief under the various theories posed including <u>estoppel</u> in <u>pais</u>, unjust enrichment and restitution, or the existence of a constructive trust.

Since the precedent set forth in <u>Kirby</u> was not followed by the majority, RCW 13.4(b) (2) is also implicated in this case and further justifies acceptance of discretionary review by this court in addition to the other criteria set forth in that rule or appellate procedure.

F. Conclusion

Based upon the foregoing points and authorities, the petitioner, WILL T. PAYNE, respectfully requests (1) that review of this petition be accepted and (2) that the challenged decisions of the Court of Appeals, Division III, be reversed and the case remanded to the superior court of Spokane County, State of Washington, with specific instructions that the judgment be

entered, and monetary damages be awarded, as against
Respondents, JOHN "STACY" RUEGSEGGER and SHARIE
KAY RUEGSEGGER, in this matter.