RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Nov 16, 2016, 10:08 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court Cause No. 93798-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILL T. PAYNE, Petitioner/Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

JOHN "STACY" and SHARIE KAY RUEGSEGGER, Respondents/Defendants.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Michael H. Church, WSBA # 24957 Hailey L. Landrus, WSBA #39432 Stamper Rubens, P.S. Attorneys for Respondents Ruegsegger 720 West Boone Avenue, #200 Spokane, WA 99201 Telephone: (509) 326-4800

I.	IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
	1. Whether the Supreme Court should conclude that the Court of Appeals' Decision does not conflict with Kruse v. Hemp, Hubbell v. Ward, and Hedges v. Hurd?
	2. Whether the Supreme Court should conclude that the Court of Appeals' Decision does not conflict with Landstar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow?
	3. Whether the Supreme Court should conclude that no significant question of constitutional law concerning due process or property rights exists?
	4. Whether the Supreme Court should conclude that no issue of substantial public interest is involved where the case concerns only the enforcement of an alleged private real estate contract?
	5. Whether an unpublished Court of Appeals' Decision affects the Supreme Court's consideration of a Petition for Discretionary Review?
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	ARGUMENT
	A. Review Should Be Denied Because The Petition Does Not Satisfy the Criteria Under RAP 13.4(b)
	1. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Consistent with Kruse v. Hemp, Hubbell v. Ward, and Hedges v. Hurd
	2. No Significant Question of State or Federal Constitutional Law or Issue of Substantial Public Interest Exists
	3. Denial of Petitioner's Motion to Publish the Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Affect His Petition for Discretionary Review
VI.	CONCLUSION10

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

John Stacy Ruegsegger and Sharie Kay Ruegsegger are the named Respondents herein and ask the Court to deny Petitioner's Petition for Discretionary Review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Respondents respectfully request that the Court deny Petitioner's Petition to review the following Court of Appeals decisions: Will T. Payne v. John "Stacy" and Sharie Kay Ruegsegger, 194 Wn. App. 1034 (2016) (No. 335377-2-III) filed June 14, 2016, and the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration or to Publish Opinion filed September 20, 2016 (hereinafter "Court of Appeals' Decision").

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Supreme Court should conclude that the Court of Appeals' Decision does not conflict with Kruse v. Hemp', Hubbell v. Ward², and Hedges v. Hurd³?

 ¹²¹ Wn.2d 715, 722, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993), holding modified on other grounds by Berg v. Ting, 125 Wn.2d 544, 886 P.2d 564 (1995).
 2 40 Wn.2d 779, 782-83, 246 P.2d 469 (1952).

³ 47 Wn.2d 683, 687, 289 P.2d 706 (1955).

- Whether the Supreme Court should conclude that the Court of Appeals' Decision does not conflict with Landstar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow?⁴
- 3. Whether the Supreme Court should conclude that no significant question of constitutional law concerning due process or property rights exists?
- 4. Whether the Supreme Court should conclude that no issue of substantial public interest is involved where the case concerns only the enforcement of an alleged private real estate contract?
- 5. Whether an unpublished Court of Appeals' Decision affects the Supreme Court's consideration of a Petition for Discretionary Review?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the enforceability of a signed writing concerning the sale of real estate from Petitioner to Respondents. Petitioner sued Respondents for specific performance of a real estate contract in a "Complaint for Monies Owed" ("Complaint"). CP 1-8. The Complaint asserted no claims, causes of action, or requests for any sort of equitable relief. CP 3-6.

⁴ 181 Wn. App. 109, 325 P.3d 327 (2014).

Respondents denied all allegations of the Complaint and alleged counterclaims against Petitioner. CP 13-14. Respondents then moved for summary dismissal of Petitioner's Complaint. *CP 54-55*.

In response, Petitioner also moved for summary judgment. In support of his motion, Petitioner filed a memorandum that alleged claims for equitable estoppel, unjust enrichment and restitution, and constructive trust for the first time. CP 203-05.

At the March 13, 2015, summary judgment hearing, the trial court concluded as a matter of law that the signed writing at issue was not an enforceable real estate contract because it lacked the essential elements of such a contract. RP 3-4. As to Petitioner's unpleaded equitable claims, the trial court judge stated: "This is an issue of statute and case law. I don't know that equity applies to this. So the Court will deny any relief on an equitable basis." RP 5. Accordingly, the trial court granted the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed Petitioner's action. RP 3-4.

The Petitioner moved for reconsideration. CP 211-215. The trial court denied reconsideration because "the Plaintiff did not make any equitable claims in the complaint." CP 228.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in an unpublished opinion, which specifically declined to review the dismissal of Payne's equitable claims because the claims were not plead and "the record

confirms that the trial court did not address the merits of the theories." Petition for Discretionary Review of Petitioner Will T. Payne, Appendix A-17. The Court of Appeals also denied Petitioner's request for reconsideration and to publish the opinion. *Id.* at A-23. Petitioner now seeks discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' Decision.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Review Should Be Denied Because The Petition Does Not Satisfy the Criteria Under RAP 13.4(b).

A petition for review will be denied unless the Petitioner can show:

(1) the decision to be reviewed conflicts with another decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals; (2) the case involves a significant question of state or federal constitutional law; or (3) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner Payne has failed to show that his Petition satisfies any of these criterion.

1. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Consistent With Kruse v. Hemp⁵, Hubbell v. Ward⁶, and Hedges v. Hurd⁷.

Petitioner has failed to show the Court of Appeals' Decision conflicts with another decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals. Mr. Payne argues that the law at issue here is not well settled and that the Court of Appeals' Decision conflicts with Kruse v. Hemp⁸, Hubbell v. Ward⁹, and Hedges v. Hurd¹⁰.

The law at issue here concerns the specific enforcement of a real estate contract. The 13 necessary terms of an enforceable real estate contract have been settled for over 60 years:

(a) time and manner for transferring title; (b) procedure for declaring forfeiture; (c) allocation of risk with respect to damage or destruction; (d) insurance provisions; (e) responsibility for: (i) taxes, (ii) repairs, and (iii) water and utilities; (f) restrictions, if any, on: (i) capital improvements, (ii) liens, (iii) removal or replacement of personal property, and (iv) types of use; (g) time and place for monthly payments; and (h) indemnification provisions.

Hubbell, 40 Wn.2d at 782-83. Here, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's summary judgment decision that the parties' signed writing could not be specifically enforced as Petitioner requested because the writing lacked many of the 13 material terms of a real estate contract. This ruling

⁵ 121 Wn.2d 715, 722, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993), holding modified on other grounds by Berg v. Ting, 125 Wn.2d 544, 886 P.2d 564 (1995).

^{6 40} Wn.2d 779, 782-83, 246 P.2d 469 (1952).

⁷ 47 Wn.2d 683, 687, 289 P.2d 706 (1955).

⁸ 121 Wn.2d at 722.

⁹ 40 Wn.2d at 782-83.

¹⁰ 47 Wn.2d at 687.

is consistent with *Kruse*, which cites *Hubbell* for the rule of law that 13 material terms must be present to grant *specific enforcement* of a real estate contract. *Kruse*, 121 Wn.2d at 722 (citing *Hubbell*, 40 Wn.2d at 782-83). The Court of Appeals' Decision is also consistent with *Hedges*, which holds that fewer essential elements of a binding real estate contract must be present in an action *for damages* rather than for specific performance. 47 Wn.2d at 708.

Here, Petitioner Payne did not seek damages; instead, he sought specific performance of an alleged real estate contract, which undisputedly lacks many of the 13 material terms, including the method of payment of principal or interest, payment of taxes, property insurance, liens on the property, payment for water or utilities, possession, escrow deposit, and conveyance by deed. Given the facts of this case, the Court correctly applied the rule in *Kruse* and *Hubbell* rather than the rule in *Hedges*. And it correctly concluded as a matter of law that the parties' signed writing was not an enforceable real estate contract because it lacked essential elements of such a contract. Petitioner cites no authority for the proposition that the rule in *Kruse* and *Hubbell* "should not be applied mechanically or in a Machiavellian fashion." Petition for Discretionary Review of Petitioner Will T. Payne at 11.

The Court of Appeals' Decision does not conflict with a Supreme Court decision or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Accordingly, this Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2).

2. No Significant Question of State or Federal Constitutional Law or Issue of Substantial Public Interest Exists.

Petitioner argues that a significant question of constitutional property rights and due process or substantial issue of public importance exists. First, this case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest or question of constitutional property rights. The alleged real estate contract was a private writing between the parties to this action, and the enforceability of the writing affects only these private parties. The writing at issue in this case does not affect public interest.

Second, case law shows the Court of Appeals provided proper due process here. Petitioner relies upon the Honorable Robert Lawrence-Berrey's dissent in the Court of Appeals' Decision to argue that "due process" required the Court of Appeals to review the trial court's ruling on equitable issues that Petitioner did not plead but raised for the first time in his response and cross-motion for summary judgment. The Honorable Lawrence-Berrey concluded that the Court of Appeals must review unpleaded issues argued to and decided by the trial court on summary

judgment pursuant to Division Two's opinion in *Landstar Inway, Inc. v.*Samrow, 181 Wn. App. 109, 121-22, 325 P.3d 327 (2014). Petition for Discretionary Review of Petitioner Will T. Payne, Appendix A-21.

Not only is Landstar not binding authority¹¹ and not based on constitutional grounds, but also it is factually distinguishable. In Landstar, the Plaintiff moved to amend its complaint to add two theories of personal liability against a Defendant before the Defendant's motion for summary dismissal was heard. 181 Wn. App. at 118. Despite the Plaintiff's pending motion to amend its complaint, the parties argued the merits of Plaintiff's proposed additional theories of liability at the summary judgment hearing, and "the trial court granted the motion for summary judgment after determining that the facts did not justify disregarding the corporate form or imposing personal liability on [Defendant]." Id. (emphasis added).

Unlike the trial court in *Landstar*, the trial court here did not determine the facts of Petitioner Payne's equitable claims on summary judgment. *See* RP 5. In its oral ruling at the summary judgment hearing, the trial court determined only the facts underlying whether an enforceable real estate contract existed and simply denied Petitioner's request for

¹¹ See Grisby v. Herzog, 190 Wn. App. 786, 809-10, 362 P.3d 763 (2015) (explaining that a decision by a panel of the Court of Appeals are not binding precedent on the other divisions).

equitable relief as inapplicable to the proceedings. RP 2-5. Indeed, Petitioner sought reconsideration because "[t]he court did not specifically note or observe the legal significance of these alternative remedies posed by the plaintiff." CP at 212. The trial court then expressly denied Petitioner's motion for reconsideration and request for equitable relief because Petitioner did not plead equitable relief in his Complaint. CP 228. Because this case is factually distinguishable from *Landstar*, the Court of Appeals Decision correctly declined to apply *Landstar* and to review Petitioner's non-pleaded equitable claims under a summary judgment standard for the first time on appeal.

No question of constitutional law or issue of substantial public interest justifies granting Petitioner's request for discretionary review.

Review should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (b)(4).

3. Denial of Petitioner's Motion to Publish the Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Affect His Petition for Discretionary Review.

Petitioner argues without citation to authority that "the court of appeals should not be allowed to circumvent acceptance of discretionary review by way of an unpublished opinion." Petition for Discretionary Review of Petitioner Will T. Payne at 14. Petitioner's suggestion that the Court of Appeals' decision not to publish its opinion in this case may

somehow influence or determine this Court's decision on his Petition for Review is contrary to applicable law. RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the criteria governing acceptance of review by the Supreme Court. Deference to the Court of Appeals and whether an opinion is published or unpublished are not part of RAP 14.3's criteria. See RAP 13.4(b). Indeed, the Supreme Court accepts review of even unpublished decisions. E.g., State v. Bustamante-Davila, 138 Wn.2d 964, 983 P.2d 590 (1999); Ellis v. William Penn Life Assur. Co. of America, 124 Wn.2d 1, 873 P.2d 1185 (1994); City of Spokane v. Kruger, 116 Wn.2d 135, 803 P.2d 305 (1991). Petitioner's concerns about the unpublished nature of the Court of Appeals' Decision are meritless.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Respondents Ruegsegger respectfully request that the Court deny Petitioner Payne's Petition for Discretionary Review.